# PHYSICIAN EMPATHY: DEVELOPMENT AND PRELIMINARY VALIDATION AND RELIABILITY TESTING OF TWO RATING SCALES

THESIS

Presented to the Graduate Council of Texas State University-San Marcos in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree

Master of ARTS

by

Emily A. Edwards, B.A.

San Marcos, Texas

August 2009

# COPYRIGHT

by

Emily A. Edwards

# **DEDICATION**

,

This thesis is dedicated to my wonderful family: my parents, Richard and Rosemary, whose unwavering support and encouragement have made me the person I am today; my sisters, Andrea and Christina, who have inspired and enlightened me; and my grandparents, who paved the way for our success with unconditional love, support, and inspiration.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank many people who made this thesis possible. This work would not have been possible without the guidance and kind support of Dr. Kelly Haskard Zolnierek, under whose supervision I was inspired by her research and am grateful for her unfaltering commitment and effort to see me through this work every step of the way. Thank you to my committee members, Dr. Theron Stimmel and Dr. Marc Turner, and my instructors of the Health Psychology Program. Thank you to all who contributed to make this research possible: Nicolle Cumly, Alysha Davila, Casey Galyon, Michele Green, Veronica Hinojosa, Carla Montez (Raters); Chelsea Fielder, Amber Kotzur (Pilot Raters); and Kevin Borders (Data Collection). Last, but certainly not least, thanks to Dr. David Gorfein who challenged me, believed in me, and inspired me to pursue a graduate degree.

This manuscript was submitted on July 2, 2009.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
LIST OF TABLES viii
ABSTRACTix
CHAPTER
I. INTRODUCTION1
Functions of Physician-Patient Communication3
Verbal Communication and Emotional Tone
Physician Empathy4
Physician Empathy and Patient Outcomes6
Effects of Physician Stress on Empathy7
Physicians' Stress, Satisfaction, and Control8
Purpose of this Study and Research Questions11
II. METHOD13
Overview13
Original Study Design and Participants13
Current Study Design14
Rating Scale Development14
Selection of Physician-Patient Interactions for the Current Study16

Measures of Physician Stress, Physician Control, Physician Empathy, and Patient Satisfaction17
Pilot Testing19
Ratings Procedures
III. RESULTS
Statistical Analysis Plan21
Research Question 1: Analyses of Inter-rater Reliability21
Descriptive Statistics
Principal Components Analysis27
Research Question 2: Correlation Analyses
Research Questions 3a and 3b: Comparisons of High Stress and Low Stress Physicians
Research Question 4: Comparisons of Verbal and Emotional Voice Tone Subscales
IV. DISCUSSION
Strengths and Limitations
Future Research Implications41
APPENDIX A: Physician Verbal Empathy Scale43
APPENDIX B: Physician Emotional Voice Tone Scale46
APPENDIX C: Origin of Scale Items
REFERENCES

# LIST OF TABLES

Table Pag	;e
1. Inter-rater Reliability: Physician Verbal Empathy Scale (Based on Three Raters)	23
2. Inter-rater Reliability: Physician Emotional Tone Empathy Scale (Based on Six Raters	s)24
3. Descriptive Statistics of Verbal Scale Items Based on the Average of Three Raters	25
4. Descriptive Statistics of Emotional Tone Scale Items Based on the Average of Six Raters	26
5. Subscales: Verbal Empathy Scale	28
6. Subscales: Emotional Tone Empathy Scale	28
7. Intercorrelations Between Subscales of the Verbal and Emotional Tone Scales and Patient Satisfaction Subscales of the PSQ	29
3. Independent Samples T-Test: Comparisons between High Stress and Low Stress Physicians	30

#### ABSTRACT

# PHYSICIAN EMPATHY: DEVELOPMENT AND PRELIMINARY VALIDATION AND RELIABILITY TESTING OF TWO RATING SCALES

by

Emily A. Edwards, B.A.

Texas State University-San Marcos

August 2009

#### SUPERVISING PROFESSOR: KELLY HASKARD

The aim of this study was to develop and pilot test two valid and reliable rating scales to measure physician empathy observed by raters through two different channels of communication (verbal and emotional tone) from the perspective of patients visiting their primary care physician. Four subscales were developed (Verbal: Affiliation, Patient Centeredness; Emotional Tone: Positive Affect, Physician Involvement). A secondary aim was to investigate group differences in empathy scores between high stress and low stress physicians. It was expected that physicians in the high stress category would be rated as having less observed empathy than those in the low stress physicians demonstrated more empathy than low stress physicians on both the Affiliation and Positive Affect subscales. No other significant differences in empathy ratings between high and low stress physicians were found. Physician empathic communication

(Affiliation, Patient Centeredness, Positive Affect, and Physician Involvement) was correlated with the patient satisfaction subscale, Physician Information Giving; and Patient Centeredness was correlated with the patient satisfaction subscale, Patient Choice, demonstrating predictive validity. Physician stress was correlated with physician control over his or her practice situation. Implications for future studies, physician training, and managed health care providers are discussed.

٢,

#### **CHAPTER I**

#### INTRODUCTION

"The (medical) interview is the most powerful, encompassing and versatile instrument available to the physician" (Engel, 1988, p.115). Communication between the physician and patient has long been considered to be important in health care (Frankel, 2000). Research revealing the effects of communication and human interaction on the process and outcomes of medical care has provoked growing interest and attention from researchers in many academic disciplines (Beck, Daughtridge, Sloane, 2001; Frankel, 2000; Frankel & Stein, 1999; Heritage & Maynard, 2006; Ong, De Haes, Hoos, & Lammes, 1995). It is empirically evident that the quality of the physician-patient interaction is a critical factor in patient and physician outcomes (Bensing, 1991; Ong, et al., 1995; Roter, Hall, & Katz, 1987). Primary care physicians are considered to be at the corner stone of communication in the medical profession because of the importance of primary care in the management of chronic diseases, such as diabetes, hypertension, coronary artery disease, and congestive heart failure (Greenfield, Kaplan, Ware, Yano & Frank, 1988). Concurrently, joint decision-making between the physician and patient positively influences patients' adherence to medical recommendations and likelihood of carrying out health-related behavior change (DiMatteo, 1993).

The traditional role of physicians in clinical settings typically has been paternalistic, that is, controlled largely by the physician with little input on behalf of the patient. Although there has recently been an influx of education, involvement and responsibility for personal health on the part of individual patients, physicians still maintain a powerful status in the eyes of many patients, which further explains the strong influence of physicians' behavior during physician-patient interactions. One of the most resounding effects of the increased prevalence of managed care appears to be changes in the physician-patient relationship (Hadley & Mitchell, 2002).

New developments in the health care system have changed the role of primary care physicians, arguably adding more job-related stress to physicians. Primary care physicians presently wear two hats: administers of "first contact and continuing care for persons with any undiagnosed sign, symptom, or health concern" (American Academy of Family Physicians, 2008) and "gatekeepers" of health organizations expected to control the traffic of patients by determining what specialty care they need or if they need it at all (National Center for Health Statistics, 2007). The primary care profession is inherently a high stress profession, and as physicians lose autonomy and control over their job situation, stress levels continue to mount. The potential effect that physician job characteristics may have on communication with patients and subsequent patient outcomes can be detrimental to the health care process. This unnecessary increase in stress can be curbed but it is imperative that health psychology researchers, health care educators, and policy makers understand the potential harm that elevated stress and diminished empathy can have on patient outcomes. This study examines physicians of varying stress levels and examines their communication with patients and relationship to patient satisfaction.

#### Functions of Physician-Patient Communication

Physician communicative behaviors in medical interactions can serve two functions: instrumental and affective (Ong et al., 1995). Instrumental or task-focused behaviors refer to the technically based skills and expertise of physicians. Examples of instrumental behaviors include asking questions, giving information, discussing test results and discussing treatment plans (Bensing, 1991). Affective communicative behavior, however, refers to socio-emotional behavior, such as showing concern, being open and honest, showing empathy, giving reassurance, and showing approval (Ong et al., 1995).

Affective behavior appears to play a crucial role in medical communication because it is present in all face-to-face interactions regardless of the content or purpose of the conversation (Hall, Roter, & Rand, 1981). A physician's ability to understand another's emotions and to properly convey his or her emotions significantly contributes to patient satisfaction with the physician-patient relationship (DiMatteo & Taranta, 1979). Physicians' affective behavior is also essential to patient outcomes, such as adherence and willingness to follow treatment advice (DiMatteo et al., 1993).

#### Verbal Communication and Emotional Tone

Affective behavior may be demonstrated through both verbal and nonverbal channels. Separate analysis of verbal and nonverbal messages has been done in previous research in order to understand the role that subtle, nonverbal expressions of emotion play in predicting patient outcomes (Haskard, DiMatteo, & Heritage, 2008; Roter, Frankel, Hall, & Sluyter, 2006). Bensing (1991) suggests that only 7% of emotional communication is actually conveyed verbally, while 22% is transferred by voice tone and 55% is received through eye contact, body posture, voice tone, gaze, laughter, facial expressions, touch, and physical distance. Furthermore, ill patients are extremely responsive to nonverbal cues conveyed by their physician because fearful, anxious, and confused feelings may accompany illness and it is natural for patients to search for subtle hints from their doctors about how they should think or feel (Freidman, 1979). Generally, physicians' verbal behaviors have been found to have significant associations with clinical outcomes (Beck, Daughtridge, & Sloane, 2002).

Tone of voice is an important channel for conveying messages about emotional states (Davitz, 1964; Hall et al., 1981). Previous research has determined that particular affective cues expressed by voice tone fall into general categories including anxiety, anger, dominance, assertiveness and sympathy (Hall et al., 1981). These categories represent global dimensions of the evaluation, activity, and potency factors of the semantic differential (Osgood, Suci, & Tannenbaum, 1957). These dimensions can be communicated through underlying messages in voice tone.

#### Physician Empathy

Empathy is expressed through verbal behavior and emotional tone, is considered a vital component of the physician-patient relationship, (Frankel, 2000) and, according to Rogers (1975) is one of the most powerful therapeutic interventions. Cohen-Cole & Bird (1991, p. 21) define empathy as "... a term indicating one person's appreciation, understanding, and acceptance of someone else's emotional situation." Bylund and Makoul (2005) suggest that empathy is transactional and is not just given from patient to

physician; rather, the patient presents an "empathic opportunity" which may determine the physician's expressed empathy. In other words, some patients may provide several opportunities for the physician to respond empathically, while others may not provide any empathic opportunities. Since physician empathy is a product of empathic opportunities provided by the patient, it is important to consider such opportunities when investigating physician empathy (Bylund & Makoul, 2005).

Empathy is a multidimensional construct with affective, cognitive, and behavioral components (Bylund & Makoul, 2005; Nicolai, Demmel & Hagen, 2007). Some researchers combine all three dimensions thereby conceptually defining physician empathy as a physician's ability to cognitively understand the patient's needs, be affectively sensitive to the patient's feelings, and to behaviorally convey empathy to the patient (Feighny, Arnold, Monaco, Munro, & Earl, 1998). For the current study, the behavioral dimension is considered most relevant for investigating physician-patient interactions because it is not the physician's internal empathy, but how it is conveyed and viewed by the patient (Bylund & Makoul, 2005) and how the physician communicates it (Hojat et al., 2002; Nicolai, Demmel, & Hagen, 2007), that is considered most relevant.

Many researchers have examined empathy from physicians' internal perspective, which typically relies on a type of self-report measure in order to gain insight regarding physicians' perceptions or feelings of their empathic capacity (Hojat, Mangione, Nasca, Gonnella & Magee, 2005). For instance, a physician may feel empathy but may not adequately express empathy to the patient; this would cause the physician to appear to lack empathy from the perspective of the patient or outside observer. This demonstrates a need for further study into how physicians' empathy is perceived through the eyes of the patient or outside observer. Although empathic attitudes (perceptions) and behaviors (actions) are correlated, they are two different aspects of empathy (Hojat et al., 2002).

2

In order to capture physicians' empathic behaviors, two different rating scales (one to measure empathy conveyed verbally and the other to measure empathy conveyed through emotional tone) using an adjective bipolar scale have been developed in an attempt to measure perceived physician empathy through external observation (audiotapes and judgments of the audiotapes by trained raters) in an attempt to gain insight into the patients' perspective. The primary focus of the current study is to conduct pilot analyses on the scales to determine whether the scales are reliable, valid, and generalizable.

#### Physician Empathy and Patient Outcomes

Empathy conveyed by physicians through words or affect has not only been shown to improve patient satisfaction (Stewart et al., 2000; Sullivan et al., 2000), but also appears to have health promoting benefits (Van Dulmen & Bensing, 2002). In a review of the literature, Di Blasi and colleagues (2001) found that empathy had one of the strongest health promoting effects. More specifically, research findings link empathic interactions to reductions in patients' blood pressure (Hwang et al., 1998) and pain (Weiss, 1990). Also, patients' perceptions of physician empathy are positively associated with reduced emotional distress and increased disease-related self-efficacy in cancer patients (Zachariae et al., 2003).

A study by Wasserman, Inui, Barriatua, Carter and Lippincott (1984) reported that physician empathy was related to overall visit satisfaction and reduction in concerns. Global assessments of empathy and appreciation of a patient's situation (empathy) have been demonstrated to have a positive relationship with patient satisfaction (Comstock, Hooper, Goodwin & Goodwin, 1982). A review of the literature on communication and health outcomes found that the majority of the studies reviewed demonstrated a correlation between effective physician-patient communication (including empathy) and health outcomes (Stewart, 1995). The outcomes most affected were patients' emotional health, symptom resolution, functional status, physiologic measures, and pain control (Stewart, 1995). Furthermore, several studies have established a link between the absence of supportive, empathic communication and increased medical malpractice suits (Lester & Smith, 1993; Beckman, Markakis, Shuman & Frankel, 1994; Levinson, Roter, Mullooly, Dull & Frankel, 1997). Research suggests that there is a relationship between physician empathy and better patient outcomes, such as increased patient satisfaction; however, very little observational research has been conducted about how empathy is communicated between the physician and patient in the medical visit (Barnett, Howard, King, & Dino, 1981).

#### Effects of Physician Stress on Empathy

The inability of physicians to successfully cope with stress and the demands of medical practice may diminish the quality of doctor-patient relationships thereby diminishing medical care effectiveness; (Shapiro, Schwartz & Bonner, 1998) moreover, empathy may be lost when physicians are overwhelmed by stress (Shapiro et al., 1998). Frankel and Stein (1999) state that practicing medicine in a highly time-pressured, stressful environment is one barrier to clinicians' ability and willingness to show empathy toward patients. This theme has been demonstrated in studies of medical students and residents which have shown that empathy seems to suffer rather than thrive during the course of medical school (Bellini, Baime, & Shea, 2002; Shanafelt, Bradley, Wipf & Back, 2002; Thomas et al., 2007). Empathy levels have been shown to decrease between entry to medical school and the end of the first year, supporting the notion of researchers and physicians alike that stress reduction and empathic communication skills should be part of the curriculum in medical school because coping with stress is such a crucial skill for physicians (Holm, 1997; Klitzman, 2006; Lee, Back, Block, & Stewart, 2002;; Shapiro et al., 1998). Results from a multicenter study of medical students and residents by Thomas and colleagues (2007) suggest that the decline of empathy in medical residents appears to be related to distress, which has the strongest effects on residents' care of patients compared to other factors such as physician depression.

Neumann et al. (2007) investigated both patient- and physician-specific determinants of physician empathy and the influence of physician empathy on long-term outcomes of cancer patients. Results from this study found that patient-perceived busyness of the medical office had a strong negative effect on physician empathy, which indirectly influenced patients' desire for more information regarding findings and treatment options from the physician as well as patients' depression. Neumann and colleagues (2007) concluded that physicians' stress negatively influenced the relationship between physician empathy and each of the following factors: information giving, the preventive effect on patient depression, and patients' quality of life.

#### Physicians' Stress, Satisfaction, and Control

While the effect of stress on physicians is now acknowledged at each stage of physician training and practice, the sources of stress at different time points are distinct (Thomas et al., 2007). Practicing physicians are confronted with issues regarding

malpractice suits, reimbursement issues, degree of autonomy, and issues related to office and administrative duties (Linzer et al., 2002; Thomas et al., 2007). Other sources of distress are similar at all stages of physicians' careers, such as dealing with patient death and suffering, medical errors, fatigue, and difficulties with balancing personal and professional lives (Thomas et al., 2007). Physicians today are more predisposed to jobrelated stress, possibly as a consequence of changes in the organization and delivery of health care (Hojat et al., 2002). This increase in physician stress can impair patient interactions, deplete the quality of care, and lead to physician burnout (Linzer et al., 2002). Coping with stress appears to be one of the greatest challenges facing practitioners in the medical profession (Lee, 1987). Stress has been shown to have harmful effects on one's physical and mental well-being (McCabe & Schneiderman, 1985; Selve, 1976). The tremendous stress intrinsically found in the medical profession places physicians at a greater risk for problems associated with stress, such as depression, anxiety, alcohol/drug abuse, and suicide (Johnson, Michels & Thomas, 1990; Notman, Salt & Nadelson, 1984; Pitts, Winokur & Stewart, 1961; Richings, Khara & McDowell, 1986).

Physician satisfaction is considered to be an important aspect of the physicianpatient interaction due to the strong relationships it has with patient outcomes, such as patient adherence to treatment, patient health status, coping with disease, quality of life, patient recall and understanding of medical information, and patient satisfaction (DiMatteo et al., 1993; Grembowski et al., 2002; Ong et al., 1995; Roter et al., 1987). Job stress and satisfaction are inversely related to each other, and it appears that job satisfaction actually protects the mental health of medical professionals against job stress (Ramirez, Graham, Richards, Cull & Gregory, 1996). Some of the greatest sources of job stress include lack of organizational support, inadequate salary, making critical on-thespot decisions, dealing with crisis situations and working overtime (Peltzer, Masego & Mabeba, 2003).

Major predictors of stress among physicians are control factors which include workplace control, control over medical decision making, and control over hassles and interruptions (Linzer et al., 2002). In some cases, physicians' perceived control was found to indirectly influence ratings of empathy through communication behavior. Physicians who attributed positive patient outcomes to causes that they were able to control received higher empathy ratings from standardized patients (Silvester, Patterson & Koczwara, 2007). Many studies reporting physician dissatisfaction have identified physician perceived loss of autonomy as being of great concern to physicians and a factor in their lack of satisfaction (Conte, Imershein & Magill, 1992; Donelan, Blendon, Lundberg, et al., 1997; Murray et al., 2001; Schulz, Scheckler, Moberg, Johnson, 1997). Researchers also warn that system-level barriers, including limited access to care for patients and increased administrative burdens, can cause physician dissatisfaction potentially leading to negative effects on patient care (Conte et al., 1992; Donelan et al., 1997; Kerr et al., 2000; Murray et al., 2001; Pathman, Williams & Konrad, 1996; Petrozzi, Rosman, Berenz & Young, 1992; Schulz et al., 1997; Skolnik, Smith & Diamond, 1993). Other studies have found that dissatisfaction was much more likely when physicians felt they did not have the freedom (autonomy) to make clinical decisions that met their patients' needs, a sufficient level of communication with specialists, enough time with their patients, the ability to provide high-quality patient care, and the

ability to maintain continuing relationships with their patients (Devoe, Fryer, Hargraves, Phillips & Green, 2002).

#### Purpose of this Study and Research Questions

The aim of this pilot study was to develop a reliable and valid rating scale to measure physician empathy conveyed through physicians' verbal communication and emotional tone and observed by raters from the perspective of patients visiting their primary care physician. The scale was validated by computing correlations with measures of patient satisfaction. A secondary aim was to investigate group differences in empathy ratings between high stress and low stress physicians. Furthermore, two scales measuring both verbal communication and emotional tone were rated in order to separately examine manifestation of empathy through verbal context (Physician Verbal Empathy Scale) and emotional tone (Physician Emotional Tone Scale). The Physician Verbal Empathy Scale was rated by three raters who were instructed to rate each item based on the physicians' conversation with the patient; specifically, what the physician says as opposed to how he or she says it. The Physician Emotional Tone Scale was rated by six raters who were instructed to rate each item based on the physician's tone of voice, or how the physician speaks to the patient without focusing on the physician's words. Finally, relationships between physician stress and physician perceptions of control were examined.

Research questions of the current study were: (1) Can a reliable rating scale be created to measure physicians' empathic communication in audiotaped medical visits? (2) Can predictive validity of the rating scale be demonstrated based on correlations with patient satisfaction? (3a) Do verbal ratings of empathic communication differ between high stress physicians compared to low stress physicians? (3b) Do ratings of empathic

11

/ .

emotional tone differ between high stress physicians compared to low stress physicians?4) Are physician stress and physician perceived control over practice setting correlated?

It was predicted that high stress physicians would be rated as displaying less empathy than low stress physicians in separate analyses of verbal and emotional tone ratings. It was also predicted that physician stress and control over practice setting would be significantly correlated.

#### **CHAPTER II**

#### **METHOD**

#### **Overview**

The main focus of this study was to develop and pilot a new, reliable rating scale in order to observe empathy through physicians' verbal communication and emotional tone during a medical visit. There are numerous available rating and coding methods to assess communication in the physician-patient relationship (e.g., Roter Interaction Analysis System) but no specific scale or coding form is known to exist to study observed communication of empathy through verbal communication and emotional tone. Both verbal communication and emotional tone were rated in order to separately examine manifestation of empathy through more specific communicative behaviors and through general affect. The primary research question in this study proposal addresses the communicative behaviors of primary care physicians. This study builds on various rating methods that have been developed and extensively studied in past research (Hall et al., 1981; Haskard et al., 2008; Hojat et al., 2002; Nicolai, Demmel & Hagen, 2007).

#### Original Study Design and Participants

Data for the current study represent a subset of previously collected data from a larger study conducted by the Bayer Institute for Health Care Communication and the University of California, Irvine. The data from this study were analyzed and described in

more detail in Haskard, Williams, DiMatteo, Rosenthal, Kemp White, and Goldstein (2008). The original study included 156 primary care physicians from 3 different medical settings: primary care clinic in a staff model HMO (58 physicians), a university medical center (93 physicians), and a Veterans Administration (VA) clinic (5 physicians). A total of 2196 physician-patient interactions were audio-tape recorded. The primary focus of the original study was to assess the effects of physician and patient communication skills training on multiple outcomes. For the current study only the baseline (pre-training) data were assessed.

#### Current Study Design

This thesis study involved a correlational design and analysis of previously collected data and uses a new communication rating scale designed for this study. Six raters were assigned to listen to and rate audio-taped physician-patient interactions. The interactions were selected based on predetermined criteria including a focus on physicians' stress levels (see description below). Piloted measurements of the psychometric properties of the scales were assessed and ratings of the scales were validated against patient reports of their satisfaction after the medical care visit.

#### Rating Scale Development

The current pilot study involved development of two scales to measure two dimensions of empathic communication. The verbal scale was derived from previous research on empathy, which includes significant findings relevant to empathic communication and derivations of items from other empathy scales (Hojat et al., 2002; Nicolai et al., 2007). The verbal scale (see Appendix A) contains 28 items. The first 17 items refer to specific, verbal cues of communication (e.g. "The doctor showed

understanding of the patient's point of view"). Each of these 17 items was designed to capture verbal cues of empathic communication toward the patient, perceived by the raters. Item generation was based on various empathy studies (scales and concepts) and reformulated for the current study (see Appendix A) (Hojat et al., 2002; Klitzman, 2006; Nicolai et al., 2007). Sixteen empathy-related items were rated on a 5-point Likert scale (1 =Never; 2 = Seldom; 3 = Sometimes, 4 = Often, 5 = All the time). These items were designed to capture the level of empathy the physician conveys toward the patient during the medical visit and were formatted to measure more specific aspects of empathy that can only be identified in verbal interactions. The three raters assigned to listen to the physicians' verbal communication were instructed to: "Rate each of the following (2-16) by circling a number for each question according to your perception of how the doctor speaks to the patient. Think of and rate each item independently of the others." One item was included on the scale to measure the frequency of empathic opportunities as perceived by the raters. The same 5 Likert-type responses were used ("Never, Seldom, Sometimes, Often, All of the time"). The question read as follows: "The patient provided the physician an opportunity to be empathic."

The other nine items of the verbal scale were also included in the emotional tone scale described below. These nine items were originally included in the verbal scale to measure empathy through the verbal channel and then to compare those same item responses measured through physicians' emotional tone. Further clarification of the rating process is discussed below.

The emotional tone scale (see Appendix B) was developed based on the semantic differential model (Osgood et al., 1957). The semantic differential model was designed to

measure the meaning of concepts using a dimensional, bipolar scale. Three categories of affective meaning are: the evaluation factor ("good-bad"), potency factor ("dominant-submissive"), and activity factor ("active-passive") developed by Osgood et al. (1957). The emotional tone scale consists of 20 bipolar adjective descriptor items (see Table 2). The response format for the items is an 8.0 centimeter Visual Analogue Scale (VAS), with three unlabeled, demarcated points along the axis at the 0.0 cm ("All of the time" with corresponding adjective), 4.0 cm ("neutral"), and 8.0 cm ("Never" with other corresponding adjective) position. These items were counterbalanced to prevent response bias. After listening to the entire interaction, the raters were told to place a pencil mark along the horizontal axis of the VAS in the position they believe is in appropriate proximity to the adjective descriptor that most accurately describes the physicians' affect toward the patient. See "Ratings Procedures" section below for clarification on actual ratings procedures.

#### Selection of Physician-Patient Interactions for the Current Study

Eighty-five audio-taped physician-patient interactions were selected for inclusion in the current study based on the following criteria: (1) baseline (pre-training) only, (2) physician must have responded to the self-report stress questions (an equal number of high stress and low stress doctors were selected using a median split), (3) English language only, (4) quality of recording was audible. Once the physician met the above criteria, one patient from each physician was selected. Four interactions were excluded from the data set due to three or more raters describing the audiotape being of poor quality, thus too difficult rate; therefore, a total of 85 interactions were included in analyses.

Patients of the qualified physicians had to meet the following additional criteria to be selected: patients' score on the General Health subscale of the SF-36 (McHorney, Ware, & Raczek, 1993) must be below 50 (scored on a 0-100 scale where 0 is poorest possible health and 100 is best possible health) (Ware, Kosinski, & Keller, 1994; Ware, Kosinski, & Dewey, 2000). A criterion for below average health was determined based on past research by John Ware in which the norm-based mean score is 50. A score below 50 indicates that health status is below what is considered average. In the case where more than one patient meets the General Health score criteria the lowest General Health scale score was selected. This selection criterion was included as an indirect method to increase the likelihood that the patient will present an empathic opportunity for the physician under the assumption that the poorer the patient's health the more likely the patient will present an opportunity for the physician to respond empathically (Bylund & Makoul, 2005). If more than one patient had the same General Health subscale score, then the patient with the lowest interaction identification number, which was arbitrarily assigned to each interaction in the original study, was selected.

# Measures of Physician Stress, Physician Control, Physician Empathy, and Patient Satisfaction

The Physician's Stress and Life Satisfaction Questionnaire (PSLSQ) scale was developed for the purposes of the original study and was completed by all physicians. A subscale of the PSLSQ used in previous research assessed physician stress (3 items, alpha = .75). Items of this stress subscale include, "I feel stressed out in my current job," "I feel more stressed out in my job than other providers doing the same kind of work," and "I feel that my stress interferes with my ability to deliver quality care," and all items were rated on a 1-5 scale (e.g. 1 = strongly agree, 5 = strongly disagree); however, the values

were reversed in analyses so that the higher values indicated strongly agree, or more stressed. The high stress cohort was defined as physicians who reported above the median stress level of 2.67, while the low stress cohort was defined as physicians who reported below the median stress level.

Physician control data was derived from the PSLSQ which was analyzed to determine whether physician control was correlated with physician stress. The questionnaire asks the physicians: "How would you rate your current practice situation with respect to each of the following specific aspects of care?: (1) Personal control over patient office visit scheduling (visit length, visit intervals, etc., (2) Ability to see acutely ill patients personally when they need urgent care, and (3) Ability to retain control over patients' primary management after referral to other physicians. Physicians were instructed to respond by rating their level of satisfaction on a 5-point scale (1 = very satisfied, 2 = satisfied, 3 = so-so, 4 = dissatisfied, and 5 = very dissatisfied). Physicians' stress scores were correlated with physicians' reports of control.

Patient satisfaction reports were collected from the Patient Satisfaction Questionnaire (PSQ) and used to assess predictive validity through correlations with empathic communication. The PSQ includes the following subscales: "Physician Information Giving," (e.g. Physician told (the patient) everything, let (them) know the results, explained treatment of alternatives, etc.) ( $\alpha = .95$ ), Patient Perceived Decision-Making" (e.g. "physician asked (the patient) to: take responsibility for (the patient's) treatment, help make decisions; physician gives some control over treatment decisions" ( $\alpha = .74$ )," and "Patient Choice" ( $\alpha = .96$ ) (e.g. "Physician offered choices in (the patient's) medical care, discussed the pros and cons, asked preferred choice, took

preferences into account) (Haskard, Williams, DeMatteo, Rosenthal, Kemp-White, & Goldstein, 2008).

#### **Pilot** Testing

Two raters piloted preliminary drafts of the rating scales. The raters were each assigned 2 to 3 interactions that were not rated in the actual study. Each rater individually read through and critiqued the items on the scale pointing out items that needed to be clarified or modified. An individual focus session was conducted with each rater and the researcher in order to evaluate the relevance of the items as an aspect of empathy and to assess the items for clarity and conciseness. The outcome of the pilot testing resulted in further clarification of terms and rewording of 2 items in the verbal subscale in order for them to be general enough to apply to all interactions. Also, one item ("The doctor acknowledged that he or she kept the patient waiting") was discarded completely for being too specific. The final and most major scale modification was changing the Likert response items. Response items were changed from "strongly agree – strongly disagree" to "never – all of the time," which better fit the item questions. The emotional voice tone subscale did not undergo any modifications after pilot rating; however, definitions for some adjectives were provided for further clarification.

#### Ratings Procedures

Following pilot testing and modification of the scale, ratings of the verbal and emotional tone of physicians based on audio-tape recordings were completed. Six "naive" individuals were selected as raters. Past research has found that evaluations of judges who don't have extensive prior knowledge of medical communication to do this rating task, or "naïve judges," are most closely related to evaluations of actual patients after medical visits (Hall et al., 1981). Previous research has shown females to be more sensitive to affect in voice tone (Ambady, Hallahan, & Rosenthal, 1995), which is why all six raters were female.

The order in which each rater listened to the interactions was randomly designed using an incomplete counterbalancing method to control for practice, fatigue, and order effects. Three raters rated all 85 interactions using the verbal scale only (which contained 9 items that were also part of the emotional tone scale). Three separate raters completed ratings of all 85 interactions using the 20-item emotional tone scale (containing 9 items identical to both scales and 11 unique items). The three raters assigned to the verbal channel were supposed to be given different instructions for the nine items identical between both scales; it was originally proposed that the verbal scale raters would listen only to the physicians' words when rating these items, while the three raters assigned to rating the emotional tone scale would listen to only the physicians' tone of voice. This difference in rating instructions would have allowed the researcher to compare identical items through different channels of communication (i.e., compassion conveyed verbally versus through emotional tone) and thereby compare empathy in different communication channels. The researcher inadvertently gave both sets of raters (all six raters) identical instructions (see exact instructions in Appendices A and B) for rating the nine shared items, thus preventing the researcher from answering the original research question regarding comparisons in physicians' empathy in different communication channels. To remedy this mistake, the researcher used these nine shared items as rated by all 6 raters for all analyses of the emotional tone scale.

#### **CHAPTER III**

#### RESULTS

#### Statistical Analysis Plan

Inter-rater reliability was assessed across the three raters of verbal communication and the six raters of emotional tone. The items of the scales were subjected to principal components analysis to determine subscales. Validity was assessed through correlations with patient self-reported satisfaction from the PSQ. Differences in empathy for high and low stress physicians were assessed and correlations between physician self-reported stress and physicians' perceived control over their practice situation were investigated.

#### Research Question 1: Analyses of Inter-rater Reliability

Inter-rater reliability was calculated using Cronbach's alpha to evaluate the level of agreement among the three raters of the verbal scale as well as among the six raters of the emotional tone scales (these analyses will answer research question 1) (see Tables 1 and 2). As noted in Table 1, items with low reliability ( $\leq 0.25$ ) were not included in further analyses. The inter-rater reliability of two items of the verbal scale (Items 6 and 7) was calculated using only two of the three raters due to missing data from one of the raters (see Table 1). The mean inter-rater reliability of the 17 items of the verbal scale was .40. The mean inter-rater reliability for the nine items of the emotional tone scale was .62.

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

For the verbal scale, the individual scores for each of the three raters were averaged to represent an overall score for that item (see Table 3). The individual scores for each of the six raters of the emotional tone scale were averaged to represent an overall score for that item (see Table 4). The means, standard deviations, and ranges for each individual item are listed in Tables 3 and 4. The overall mean of all items from the verbal scale was 3.78 (SD=.54, Range = 2.61) (refer to Table 3 for individual item values). The overall mean of all items from the emotional tone scale was 6.29 (SD=.99, Range = 4.5). Table 1

Inter-rater Reliability: Physician Verbal Empathy Scale (Based on Three F	Raters)	
	Inter-rater Reliability	N of Valid Cases
1. At any point during the visit did the doctor address the patient by his or her name?*	.804	85
1a. If yes, was it the patient's: First name, Last name, Both first and last name, or Other	* .810	19
2. The doctor used "we" or "us" when talking to the patient during the visit.	.396	85
3 The doctor discouraged the patient. <sup>1</sup>	.486	85
4. The doctor disclosed a personal experience to make the patient feel better.	.646	85
5. The doctor listened to the patient.	.429	85
6. The doctor ignored the patient's real concerns. <sup>2</sup>	.097	85
7. The doctor made sure the patient understood.**	.270	85
8. The doctor focused on the patient.	.478	85
9. The doctor understood the emotional status of the patient.	.441	85
10. The doctor showed understanding of the patient's point of view.	400	85
11. The doctor put the patient at ease.	.471	85
12. The doctor tried to put him/herself in the patient's shoes.	.438	85
13. The doctor empathized with the patient's main reason for his/her visit.***	.083	85
14. The doctor was contained within his/her own point of view. <sup>3</sup>	.412	85
15. The doctor understood the patient's feelings.	.449	85
16. The doctor asked the patient if he or she had any questions.	441	85
17. The patient provided the physician an opportunity to be empathic.	.666	85

\* Item was included for qualitative purposes only. Item was not included in PCA.
\*\* Reliability was based on 2 raters due to missing data.
\*\*\* Item was not included in PCA due to low interrater reliability.

1 - Item was reversed. The statement is intended to capture if the doctor *encouraged* the patient. Higher values reflect that the doctor was more encouraging Reliability is based on 2 raters due to missing data.

2 - Item was reversed The statement is intended to capture if the doctor *listened* to the patient. Higher values indicate the doctor listened to the patient more. Reliability is based on 2 raters due to missing data.

3 - Item was reversed. The statement is intended to capture if the doctor was open to the patient's point of view. Higher values indicate the doctor was more open to patient's point of view

Item Number	Inter-rater Reliability	N of Valid Cases
1. Compassionate/Not Compassionate*	.748	85
2. Caring /Uncaring	.749	85
3. Sympathetic/ Unsympathetic	.649	85
4. Understanding/ Not Understanding*	.611	85
5. Empathetic/ Apathetic	.630	85
6. Warm/ Cold*	.755	85
7. Active/Passive	.256	85
8. Polite/ Rude*	.638	85

# Table 2Inter-rater Reliability: Physician Emotional Tone Empathy Scale (Based on Six Raters)

\* Items were reversed in the scale. Values in the table have been adjusted so the higher values correspond to positive adjectives.

.534

9. Engaged/Not Engaged\*

Table 3

,

Descriptive Statistics of Verbal Scale Items Based on the Average of Three Raters

Item Name	Range	Mean	Std Dev
2. The doctor used "we" or "us" when talking to the patient during the visit.	2.67	2.14	0.61
3. The doctor discouraged the patient.	2.33	4.44	0.39
4. The doctor disclosed a personal experience to make the patient feel better.	2.33	1.47	0.40
5. The doctor listened to the patient.	2.33	4.24	0.43
6. The doctor ignored the patient's real concerns.	2.00	4.76	0.48
7. The doctor made sure the patient understood.	2.67	4.10 ·	0.70
8. The doctor focused on the patient.	1.67	4.48	0.33
9 The doctor understood the emotional status of the patient.	3.00	3.75	0.61
10. The doctor showed understanding of the patient's point of view.	3.00	3.59	0.62
11. The doctor put the patient at ease.	2 67	3.54	0.50
12. The doctor tried to put him/herself in the patient's shoes.	3.00	2.17	0.62
13. The doctor empathized with the patient's main reason for his/her visit.*	2.67	3.56	0.55
14. The doctor was contained within his/her own point of view.	3.00	5.68	0.65
15. The doctor understood the patient's feelings.	2.67	3.60	0.57
16 The doctor asked the patient if he or she had any questions.	2.67	1.77	0.55
17. The patient provided the physician with an opportunity to be empathic.*	3.00	3.53	0.81

\* Items were not included in Principal Components Analysis.

Table 4Descriptive Statistics of Emotional Tone Scale Items Based on the Average of Six Raters

Item Name	Range	Mean	Std Dev
1. Compassionate/Not Compassionate*	5.62	6.03	1.20
2. Caring/ Uncaring	4.62	6.42	1.07
3. Sympathetic/ Unsympathetic	5.25	5.58	1.12
4. Understanding/ Not Understanding*	4.90	6.60	.956
5. Empathetic/ Apathetic	4.30	5.05	1.05
6 Warm/ Cold*	5.02	6.24	1.20
7. Active/Passive	2.78	6.78	.723
8. Polite/ Rude*	4.40	7.07	.879
9. Engaged/Not Engaged*	3.23	6.88	.754

\* Item 13, "The doctor empathized with the patient's main reason for his/her visit." Was not included in Principle Component Analysis due to low reliability.

<sup>1</sup>,<sup>2</sup> Only 2 raters' ratings were computed to increase interrater reliability.

.

#### Principal Components Analysis

Using the overall average scores of the three raters for the verbal and the six for the emotional tone scale, principal components analysis with varimax orthogonal rotation was conducted in order to assess if the individual verbal and emotional tone items could be reduced into subscales. Internal consistency reliability of the subscales was assessed. Although the Physician Verbal Empathy Scale contains 17 total items, only 14 items were included in Principal Components Analysis. Item # 1 ("At any point during the visit did the doctor address the patient by his or her name?") and item # 17 ("The patient provided the physician an opportunity to be empathic.") were not included in Principal Components Analysis because item #1 was not designed to measure empathy quantitatively, rather, it was intended for purposes of anecdotal discussion. Item #17 was excluded from Principal Component Analysis because it was designed to measure *patient* behavior rather than physician behavior. This item is not related to the items 2-16, therefore it is not desirable to include it in principal components analysis. The third item (Item # 13: "The doctor empathized with the patient's main reason for his or her visit.") was excluded from Principal Components Analysis due to low inter-rater reliability ( $\alpha = .083$ ).

Two principal components accounted for 59% of the variance in ratings of verbal physician empathy, and two components accounted for 89% of the variance in ratings of physician emotional tone empathy. Based on this analysis, two subscales were constructed separately for the verbal and emotional tone scales. The components for the Physician Verbal Empathy Scale were named: Affiliation (9 items;  $\alpha = .93$ ) and Patient Centeredness (5 items;  $\alpha = .64$ ) (see Table 5 for specific items included in each subscale). The components for the Physician Emotional Tone Empathy Scale are: Positive Affect (7 items;  $\alpha = .97$ ) and Physician Involvement (2 items;  $\alpha = .80$ ) (see Table 6 for specific items included in each subscale). The average internal consistency reliability of the four

subscales is 0.84.

ï

# Table 5 Subscales: Verbal Empathy Scale

Affiliation (9 items, $\alpha = 0.93$ )
3. The doctor discouraged the patient
5. The doctor listened to the patient
6. The doctor ignored the patient's real concerns.
8. The doctor focused on the patient.
9. The doctor understood the emotional status of the patient.
10. The doctor showed understanding of the patient's point of view.
11. The doctor put the patient at ease.
14. The doctor was contained within his/her own point of view.
15. The doctor understood the patient's feelings.
<b>Patient Centeredness</b> (5 Items, $\propto = 0.64$ )
2. The doctor used "we" or "us" when talking to the patient during the visit.
4. The doctor disclosed a personal experience to make the patient feel better.
7. The doctor made sure the patient understood.
12. The doctor tried to put him/herself in the patient's shoes.
16. The doctor asked the patient if he or she had any questions.
Table 6
Subscales: Emotional Tone Empathy Scale*
<b>Positive Affect</b> (7 items, $\alpha = 0.97$ )
1. Compassionate / Not Compassionate
2. Caring / Uncaring
3. Sympathetic / Unsympathetic
4. Understanding / Not Understanding
5. Empathetic / Apathetic
6. Warm / Cold
7. Polite / Rude
<b>Physician Involvement</b> (2 Items, $\alpha = 0.80$ )
8. Active/ Passive
9. Engaged/ Not Engaged

\* All items were rated by all six raters

#### Research Question 2: Correlation Analyses

Next, correlations were computed between the verbal and emotional tone subscales and the patient satisfaction subscales of the PSQ to show some preliminary evidence of predictive validity. Table 7 shows the bivariate correlations between the four subscales of the Physician verbal and emotional tone empathy scales and three Patient Satisfaction subscales. All four empathy subscales (Affiliation, Patient Centeredness, Positive Affect, and Physician Involvement) are significantly correlated with the subscale, Physician Information Giving from the PSQ scale. In addition, the empathy subscale, Patient Centeredness is significantly correlated with the subscale, Patient Centeredness is significantly correlated with the subscale, Patient Choice, from the PSQ scale. Correlations between Affiliation and Patient Choice as well as between Positive Affect and Patient Choice approached statistical significance (p = .066). No significant correlations were found among the Affiliation, Patient Centeredness, Positive Affect, and Physician Involvement subscales and the Patient Perceived Decision Making subscale from the PSQ. Likewise, no significant correlation was found between Physician Involvement and Patient Choice.

#### Table 7

Subscale	Patient Perceived		Physician
	Decision	Patient	Information
	Making	Choice	Giving
Verbal Scale (n = 85)			
1. Affiliation	.054	.206±	.273*
2. Patient Centeredness	.086	.221*	.289**
Emotional Tone Scale (n = 85)			
3. Positive Affect	.149	.205±	.291**
4. Physician Involvement	.085	.038	.248*

Intercorrelations Between Subscales of the Verbal and Emotional Tone Scales and Patient Satisfaction Subscales of the PSQ

\*\* Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed)

±Correlation is significant at the .066 level (2-tailed)

#### Research Questions 3a and 3b: Comparisons of High Stress and Low Stress Physicians

Independent samples T tests were computed to compare the high stress and low

stress physicians on the verbal and emotional tone subscales, illustrated in Table 8.

# Table 8 Independent Samples T-Test: Comparisons between High Stress and Low Stress Physicians

Subscales	t	df	р	
Affiliation	-2.518	72.978*	.014**	-
Patient Centeredness	-1.767	82	.081	
Positive Affect	-2.056	71.098*	.043**	
Physician Involvement	967	82	.336	

\* The Levene's test for homogeneity of variances was significant for Affiliation (F = 5.76, p < .05) and Positive Affect (F = 6.72, p < .05), indicating unequal variance between groups.

\*\* Indicates significant differences between high stress and low stress groups.

Results from this analysis were counter to the hypothesis that high stress physicians would receive lower empathy ratings, while low stress physicians would receive higher empathy ratings. Physicians who reported stress levels above 2.67 on the PSLSQ (using a median split) were considered "high stress" physicians, conversely those who reported stress levels below 2.67 were considered "low stress" physicians. The Levene's test for homogeneity of variances was significant for Affiliation (F = 5.76, p < .05) and Positive Affect (F = 6.72, p < .05), indicating unequal variance between groups. Table 8 illustrates the results of the t tests comparing high stress and low stress physicians. High stress physicians received significantly higher empathy ratings on Affiliation (M = 4.12, SD = .34), compared to low stress physicians (M = 3.90, SD = .46). Although not significant, differences between high stress physicians (M = 2.40, SD = .34) and low stress physicians (M = 2.26, SD = .41) in Patient Centeredness approached significance (F = .565, p = .08). High stress physicians received significants received significants approached significance stress approached significance (F = .565, p = .08). High stress physicians received significants received significants received significants received significants (M = 2.26, SD = .41) in Patient Centeredness approached significance (F = .565, p = .08). High stress physicians received significantly higher empathy ratings

on Positive Affect (M = 6.36, SD = .80) compared to low stress physicians (M = 5.92, SD = 1.15). No significant differences in Physician Involvement were found between high stress (M = 6.90, SD = .63) and low stress physicians (M = 6.76, SD = .63).

# Research Question 4: Comparisons of Physician Stress and Perceived Control Over Practice

Correlations were also computed between the stress and control subscales of the PSLSQ. A significant negative correlation was found between the physician stress subscale of the PSLSQ and the physician perceived control over practice subscale of the PSLSQ (r = -.38, p < .01)

¢

#### **CHAPTER IV**

#### DISCUSSION

The primary goal of this study was to develop and pilot two reliable and valid scales with which to measure physician empathy conveyed both verbally and through emotional tone. The first research question of this study was focused on assessing the reliability of these two scales. Two unique scales were developed in an attempt to accurately capture physician empathic behaviors during a typical medical visit with a patient. This study found that the items of the two scales developed for this study could each be combined into two subscales with acceptable reliability (Physician Verbal Empathy Scale: Affiliation and Patient Centeredness, average internal consistency reliability of these subscales = 0.66; Physician Emotional Tone Scale: Positive Affect and Physician Involvement, average internal consistency reliability of these subscales = 0.83).

Affiliation is a term comprised from a combination of several behaviors designed to establish and maintain a positive relationship between the physician and patient, including behaviors that communicate interest, empathy, friendliness, warmth, genuineness, honesty, candor, compassion, a desire to help, devotion, sympathy, authenticity, a nonjudgmental attitude, humor, and a social orientation (Buller, 1987; Ben-Sira, 1976, 1980; DiMatteo, Prince, & Taranta, 1979; Freemon, Negrete, Davis, &

Korsch, 1971; Friedman, DiMatteo, & Taranta, 1980; Jensen, 1981; King, LaGrone, & Miller, 1984; Korsch et al., 1968; Korsche & Negrete, 1972; Street & Weinmann, 1987; Vickery, 1983).

The nine items from the Physician Verbal Empathy Scale that were statistically and conceptually similar were items such as: "The doctor listened to the patient," The doctor understood the emotional status of the patient," and "The doctor showed understanding of the patient's point of view." The second subscale of the Physician Verbal Empathy Scale was Patient Centeredness. Patient Centeredness refers to specific verbal behaviors that the physician displayed to show the patient that he or she is putting the patient at the center of their focus. Five items comprised this subscale, such as "The doctor used "we" or "us" when talking to the patient during the visit," "The doctor disclosed a personal experience to make the patient feel better," and "The doctor asked the patient if he or she had any questions."

Positive Affect was one of the two subscales of the Physician Emotional Tone Scale. This term refers to more general emotional aspects of the physician's tone of voice. It has been found that positive affect produces greater overall patient satisfaction (Korsch & Negrete, 1981). Seven VAS items comprise this subscale: compassionate, caring, sympathetic, understanding, empathetic, warm, and polite, which are all considered positive affect toward a patient. Physician Involvement was the other subscale of the Physician Emotional Tone Scale. This subscale includes two items (active and engaged), which describe the degree to which the physician appears to be emotionally active, or involved with the patient during their conversation.

The second research question of this study was focused on determining the validity of the Physician Verbal Empathy Scale and Physician Emotional Tone Scale. Predictive validity was demonstrated by comparing empathy ratings of each subscale with reports of patient

satisfaction with their visit with their physician based on three patient satisfaction categories (Patient Perceived Decision Making, Patient Choice, and Physician Information Giving). Physician empathy has been linked to overall visit satisfaction and has been shown to have a positive relationship with patient satisfaction in past research (Comstock et al., 1982; Wasserman et al., 1984). Although the current study is only correlational and cannot draw causal conclusions, there is some preliminary evidence here connecting to previous research indicating that patients are more satisfied with their care when physicians use more empathic communication. It is especially interesting to find that all four of the Physician Empathy Subscales were correlated with Physician Information Giving. One possible explanation for this may be that people, as patients, often lose at least some control over their situation. The uncertainty of the patients' medical condition, outcome of their illness, and possible problems they might face (e.g. difficult recovery, pain, death) are often perceived as being out of their control. It is innately anxiety provoking to feel out of control, especially when it comes to one's health. If the physician works to alleviate the patient's lack of control by providing information to the patient about their condition, treatment options, and what to expect they are, in essence, acting empathically by appeasing the patient's anxiety through increased information giving. The more a physician understands what the patient is going through in terms of feeling out of control or being kept in the dark about their medical status, the more empathic they will likely be, which could explain the correlation between physician information giving and empathy ratings. Similarly, the significant relationship between the Patient Centeredness subscale of the Physician Verbal Empathy Scale and Patient Choice scale of the PSQ, may also support the notion that the more choices or control the patient is given by the physician, the more satisfied the patient feels toward the physician. Moreover, the types of empathic behaviors the Patient Centeredness subscale captured include behaviors such as "disclosed a personal experience to make the patient feel better" and "made sure the patient understood," which are types of empathic behaviors that may satisfy patients' desire to have choices in their medical care. This may also contribute to why patient satisfaction may be directly related to physician empathy (Stewart, 1995).

Research question 3 aimed to determine whether differences in empathic communication existed between high stress physicians versus low stress physicians. The results showed that, counter to our hypothesis, higher stress physicians had higher empathy ratings overall, while lower stress physicians had lower empathy ratings overall. Such results could be explained by several reasons. First, perhaps the median split method used to determine which physicians would be considered high stress and which would be considered low stress did not allow a wide enough gap between the two groups. For instance, the majority of the physicians may have scored very close to the median score causing them all to clump together, thus preventing large group differences from being seen. Second, assuming the high and low stress groups were accurate, physicians' higher stress levels may keep such physicians in a higher state of arousal and could possibly enhance their communication skills, namely empathy. For example, a physician in a busy practice may be more stressed than a physician in a slower practice but he or she must also stay organized and on top of his or her work so not to fall behind or make dangerous mistakes. Elevated stress levels caused by a busy practice setting may facilitate effective communication, including empathic behaviors because effective communication is vital to keeping a busy practice running efficiently. Future research should explore practice-setting variables, which may have important implications for health care managers and physicians alike. Considering the innately high stress environment physicians are subjected to, they may operate more effectively under higher stress and may possibly be more sensitive to patients' feelings. Low

stress physicians, on the other hand, may also be more apathetic and less responsive to patient concerns.

The results further showed that high stress physicians demonstrated more Affiliation and Positive Affect, while low stress physicians demonstrated less Affiliation and Positive Affect. Correspondingly, the subscales that do not show significant differences between high and low stress physicians may provide further insight into a possible explanation for such findings. Patient Centeredness and Physician Involvement are subscales that included more specific communicative behaviors (e.g., "The doctor asked if the patient had any questions.") that may be performed with little to no emotional basis. For instance, perhaps a physician, no matter his or her level of stress, is in the habit of saying, "Do you have any questions?" to every patient at the end of their consultation. This phrase could easily be "hard-wired" into the physician's routine thus requiring little to no emotion on behalf of the physician. On the other hand, an affiliative behavior (e.g. "The doctor put the patient at ease.") or positive affect (delivered through physician's tone of voice) may require more emotional effort on the physician's part because these are communicative behaviors that cannot be easily habituated or rehearsed, they are more likely to be genuine conveyances of empathy, thus possibly accounting for differences between more and less stressed physicians in these two scales. This rationalization could be further explained by notions presented in previous research such as that of Hojat and colleagues (2002) who discuss the differences between two dimensions of empathy: empathic attitudes (perceptions) and behaviors (actions), which are correlated but considered different aspects of empathy. It is debated whether certain aspects of empathy can be learned or are simply innate, and although more research is necessary to determine whether differences exist between types of empathy, it seems possible that empathic behaviors may be learned more easily than attitudes. Examining what types of empathy can

be more easily taught and how each type is conveyed during communication has important implications for the future of healthcare educators and institutions.

This particular study found that higher physician stress correlates with higher empathy, which counter intuitively seems to indicate that higher stress yields a more positive result in terms of communicative behaviors; however, such an assumption is incongruent with the majority of previous research. Thus, further studies should be conducted to determine the direction of the relationship between physician stress and empathy as rated in audiotaped physician-patient interactions.

Research question 4 assessed the relationship between physician stress and control. The potential relationship between physician self-reported stress and physician perceived control from the PSLSQ was investigated to determine whether control might relate to physician stress. Previous research has shown that some major predictors of stress among physicians are control factors such as workplace control, control over medical decision making, and control over hassles and interruptions (Linzer et al., 2002) and in some cases physicians with greater control received higher empathy ratings from patients (Silvester et al., 2007). The empirical findings from the current study suggest that physician stress may be related to physicians' perceived control. Physician stress was found to be negatively correlated with physician perceived control, which illustrates that physicians who report more work-related stress may be less likely to feel control over their practice setting; however, this correlation does not offer a causal explanation. Although this finding is not new to this field of study, it does have important implications that should be considered by managed health care providers, medical educators, future physicians, and practicing physicians alike. More specifically, managed health care providers should be aware of how physician stress may affect the quality of care their patients receive and more so, understand

that physician perceived control over their practice setting is valuable to physicians' job satisfaction and subsequently, patients' satisfaction. Measures should be taken by managed health care organizations and health administrators alike to protect physicians' perceived control and sense of autonomy in the work place to ensure that patients receive a higher level of quality health care.

#### Strengths and Limitations

Some strengths of the current study are the fact that a large sample population met the inclusion criteria (n=85). Also, the items of each scale had moderately high inter-rater reliability and evidence for predictive validity was demonstrated against factors of patient satisfaction with the medical visit. Moreover, many studies similar in methodology using audio-taped physician-patient interactions have been done successfully. This substantiates the methods used in the current body of research illustrated with research practices that involved raters evaluating audio-taped medical visits as well as employing similar-type items as those used in the current study, both of which have shown to be effective in capturing communicative behaviors (Haskard, DiMatteo, & Heritage, 2009). The current study also provides two original, reliable scales specifically designed to measure physician empathy conveyed through both verbal and emotional tone toward their patients, which has not been done in previous research. These scales, although preliminary, have helped fill a void in the current body of research and helped pave the way for additional research on physician empathy, correlates of physician variables to physician empathy, as well as correlates of patient outcomes to physician empathy.

Some limitations should be considered when interpreting the results of the current study. Generalizability of results may be limited because the physician-patient interactions

were all recorded from the same region, Southern California, which may not be an accurate representation of conversation styles and general etiquette in other parts of the country. Gender of both patients and physicians was not considered in this study, which could influence empathy ratings. For example, female physicians may be perceived as more empathic than male physicians or female patients may be met with higher empathy from male physicians, or vice versa. Studies in the future should take this variable into account as well as socioeconomic status, ethnicity, and age of both patients and physicians.

The patients' were not rated in this study, which prevents the current study from observing the dynamic between the physician and patient. Patient variables should be considered in future research in order to better understand the patients' role in how the physician conveys empathy toward them. Further, some items on the scale did not directly assess empathy (they assessed what the researcher defined as empathy); therefore, some items of the scale may not have accurately captured true empathic communication if such items were not interpreted as empathic behaviors as perceived by the raters.

Ratings of physician emotional tone may not be as accurate due to the fact that the raters were able to hear the words of the physician. Previous studies have used a technique called content-filtering, which is a process that removes the highest and lowest audio frequencies from an audio-recording. This process makes the recorded voices sound muffled making words inaudible thus allowing only the speaker's tone of voice to be heard (Haskard et al., 2008). Unfortunately, content-filtering was not possible for the current study.

Many of the variables used to measure validity and to run correlational analyses were self-report, such as the physician stress subscale and physician control subscale. In addition, there are some limitations to the number of and individual differences between raters. Although acceptable reliability was demonstrated (Average Internal Consistency Reliability for each subscale: Affiliation = .74, Patient Centeredness = .59, Positive Affect = .89, Physician Involvement = .77), one cannot control for individual differences among raters' opinions and perceptions in this type of study. The ratings are still personal judgments of how physicians communicate with their patients and there may be innate differences in what each rater expects in communication. Although measures were taken to be sure that each rater understood each scale item and the definitions for each, this study could not control for slight individual differences among raters in their perception of how the physician communicated with the patient. Also, there was not an equal number of raters that rated each scale, thus inter-rater reliability was likely lower for the Physician Verbal Empathy Scale than if six raters rated it.

The fact that the physicians were aware that they were being recorded may have changed the way they behaved during the medical interaction. This could be another confounding variable that could account for why high stress physicians were rated as more empathic than the low stress physicians. Perhaps higher stress physicians, in this case, tried much harder to appear empathic while being audio-recorded because they know that is what is expected of them. Low stress physicians, on the other hand, may have been more relaxed altogether, thus not being as influenced by the pressure of being audio-taped. Future studies should take this factor into account.

#### **Future Research Implications**

Although, both scales were found to be reliable and show preliminary evidence of validity, further psychometric analyses and additional ratings with larger or other samples of audiotaped interactions should be conducted before these scales are used in other contexts

and populations. However, these scales have possible implications for future study of physician communication skills as well as training tools for prospective physicians.

Future research is needed to examine physician empathy more in depth, such as dimensions of empathy, modes of conveying empathy, and to what degree empathy (or what types) can be taught to physicians. Closer examination of both predictive variables that may influence physician empathy as well as outcome variables influenced by physician empathy is necessary to achieve a deeper understanding of how physicians' communicative behaviors can be improved, thus improving patient outcomes. The current study examined physician stress as a variable correlated with empathy; however, more research needs to be conducted to determine whether physician stress could predict physician empathy.

Understanding *how* physician empathy is conveyed to the patient is of great interest to future researchers and educators. If more empathy is conveyed through emotional tone, medical students and practicing physicians should be made aware of the importance of their emotional tone and the potential relevance for patient outcomes. Implications for physician communication training in medical school and in continuing education programs with an emphasis on both verbal and nonverbal communication are supported by the results of this thesis study.

# APPENDIX A

#### PHYSICIAN VERBAL EMPATHY SCALE

1. At any point during the visit did the doctor address the patient by his or her name? (please circle one)

#### Yes / No

If yes, was it the patient's (please circle one):

(a) First name

(b) Last name

(c) Both first and last name

(d) Other:

Rate each of the following (2 - 16) by circling a number for each question according to your perception of how the **doctor** speaks to the patient. Think of and rate each item independently of the others.

2. The doctor used "we" or "us" when talking to the patient during the visit.

1	2	3	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time
3. The doctor	discouraged the patient.			
1	2	3	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time
4. The doctor	disclosed a personal exp	perience to make the patient f	feel better.	
4. The doctor	disclosed a personal exp	perience to make the patient f	feel better.	
4. The doctor 1	disclosed a personal exp 2 Seldom	perience to make the patient f 3 Sometimes	feel better. 4 Often	5 All the Time
4. The doctor 1 Never	disclosed a personal exp 2 Seldom	perience to make the patient f 3 Sometimes	feel better. 4 Often	5 All the Time
4. The doctor 1 Never 5. The doctor	disclosed a personal exp 2 Seldom listened to the patient.	perience to make the patient f 3 Sometimes	feel better. 4 Often	5 All the Time
<ol> <li>4. The doctor</li> <li>1</li> <li>Never</li> <li>5. The doctor</li> <li>1</li> </ol>	disclosed a personal exp 2 Seldom listened to the patient. 2	perience to make the patient f 3 Sometimes 3	feel better. 4 Often 4	5 All the Time 5

1	2	3	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time
7. The doctor	r made sure the patient u	nderstood.		
1	2	2	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time
8. The doctor	focused on the patient.			
1	2	3	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time
9. The doctor	understood the emotior	al status of the patient.		
I	2	3	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time
10. The docto	or showed understanding	g of the patient's point of view	٧.	
1	2	3	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time
11. The docto	or put the patient at ease			
1	2	3	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time
12. The docto	r tried to put him/hersel	f in the patient's shoes.		
1	2	3	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time
13. The docto	r empathized with the p	atient's main reason for his/h	er visit.	
1	2	3	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time
14. The docto	r was contained within	nis/her own point of view.		
1	2	3	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time
15. The docto	r understood the patient	's feelings.		
1	2	3	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time
16. The docto	r asked the patient if he	or she had any questions.		

6. The doctor ignored the patient's real concerns.

1	2	3	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time

The follow	ring question is askin	ng about the <b>patient</b> :		
17. The pat	ient provided the phys	sician an opportunity to be	empathic.	
1	2	3	4	5
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	All the Time

Pay special attention to the *quality and tone of the doctor's voice* while you listen to the interaction. According to *your perception* of the doctor's voice, rate each of the following items by marking a vertical line on the point that best corresponds to the blank in the statement below. If you *strongly agree* with one of the words then circle the vertical line at the end of the line closest to that word. Think of and rate each item independently of the others.

# The doctor was \_\_\_\_\_\_ (fill in the blank) \_\_\_\_\_\_ toward the patient:



#### **APPENDIX B**

# PHYSICIAN EMOTIONAL VOICE TONE SCALE

Pay special attention to the *quality and tone of the doctor's voice* while you listen to the interaction. According to *your perception* of the doctor's voice, rate each of the following items by marking a vertical line on the point that best corresponds to the blank in the statement below. If you *strongly agree* with one of the words then circle the vertical line at the end of the line closest to that word. Think of and rate each item'independently of the others.

#### The doctor was \_\_\_\_\_(*fill in the blank*)\_\_\_\_toward the patient:





#### Definitions

<u>Sympathetic</u>: the doctor conveys sympathy toward the patient, but does not express that he or she has also experienced what the patient is or has experienced

Empathetic: the doctor expresses that he or she has personally experienced what the patient is or has experienced; or the doctor appears to feel what the patient is feeling

<u>Apathetic</u>: the doctor has little or no emotion, concern, or interest; the doctor seems indifferent or unresponsive

<u>Tolerant</u>: the doctor is open-minded toward the patients' disposition, beliefs, attitude or feelings; the doctor is non-judgmental

<u>Connected</u>: the doctor establishes a connection between him/herself and the patient in attempt to form a relationship or rapport during the visit

# APPENDIX C

R;

# ORIGIN OF SCALE ITEMS

Item #	VERBAL RATING SCALE	IDEA FROM LITERATURE	LITERATURE CITED
2, 4, 11	The doctor used "we" or "us" when talking to the patient at any point during the visit.; The doctor disclosed a personal experience to make the patient feel better.; The doctor put the patient at ease.	The 5 items correlating most with empathy were <i>put patient at ease</i> (.64), reassured patient with appropriate touch (.46), listened to patient and heard concerns (e.g, non-interruptive) (.44), made sure patient understood directions (.43), and concentrated and focused on patient (.40);	Colliver, Willis, Robbs, Cohen & Schwartz. (1998). Assessment of empathy in a standardized-patient examination. <i>Teaching</i> and Learning in Medicine, 10, 1, 8-11.
3	The doctor discouraged the patient. (negative)	The 5 items correlating most with empathy were <i>put patient at ease</i> (.64), <i>reassured patient with</i> <i>appropriate touch</i> (.46), <i>listened to patient and heard</i> <i>concerns (e.g., non-interruptive)</i> (.44), <i>made sure patient understood</i> <i>directions</i> (.43), and <i>concentrated</i> <i>and focused on patient</i> (.40);	Colliver, Willis, Robbs, Cohen & Schwartz. (1998). Assessment of empathy in a standardized-patient examination. <i>Teaching</i> <i>and Learning in</i> <i>Medicine, 10</i> , 1, 8-11.
5,9	The doctor listened to the patient; The doctor understood the emotional status of the patient.	The 5 items correlating most with empathy were <i>put patient at ease</i> (.64), <i>reassured patient with</i> <i>appropriate touch</i> (.46), <i>listened to</i> <i>patient and heard concerns (e.g.,</i> <i>non-interruptive)</i> (.44), <i>made sure</i> <i>patient understood directions</i> (.43), and <i>concentrated and focused on</i> <i>patient</i> (.40);	Colliver, Willis, Robbs, Cohen & Schwartz. (1998). Assessment of empathy in a standardized-patient examination. <i>Teaching</i> and Learning in Medicine, 10, 1, 8-11.
6	The doctor ignored the patient's real concerns (negative)	The 5 items correlating most with empathy were <i>put patient at ease</i> (.64), <i>reassured patient with</i> <i>appropriate touch</i> (.46), <i>listened to</i> <i>patient and heard concerns</i> (e.g, <i>non-interruptive</i> ) (.44), <i>made sure</i> <i>patient understood directions</i> (.43), and <i>concentrated and focused on</i> <i>patient</i> (40);	Colliver, Willis, Robbs, Cohen & Schwartz. (1998). Assessment of empathy in a standardized-patient examination. <i>Teaching</i> <i>and Learning in</i> <i>Medicine, 10</i> , 1, 8-11.

7	The doctor made sure the patient understood	The 5 items correlating most with empathy were <i>put patient at ease</i> (.64), <i>reassured patient with</i> <i>appropriate touch</i> (.46), <i>listened to</i> <i>patient and heard concerns (e.g.,</i> <i>non-interruptive)</i> (.44), <i>made sure</i> <i>patient understood directions</i> (.43), and <i>concentrated and focused on</i> <i>patient</i> (.40),	Colliver, Willis, Robbs, Cohen & Schwartz. (1998). Assessment of empathy in a standardized-patient examination. <i>Teaching</i> and Learning in Medicine, 10, 1, 8-11
8	The doctor focused on the patient	The 5 items correlating most with empathy were <i>put patient at ease</i> (.64), <i>reassured patient with</i> <i>appropriate touch</i> (.46), <i>listened to</i> <i>patient and heard concerns (e g</i> , <i>non-interruptive)</i> (.44), <i>made sure</i> <i>patient understood directions</i> (.43), and <i>concentrated and focused on</i> <i>patient</i> (.40);	Colliver, Willis, Robbs, Cohen & Schwartz. (1998). Assessment of empathy in a standardized-patient examination. <i>Teaching</i> and Learning in Medicine, 10, 1, 8-11.
10, 14	The doctor showed understanding of the patient's point of view.; The doctor was contained within his/her own point of view. (negative)	REM rating scale item 3.	Nicolai, J., Demmel, R. & Hagen, J. (2007). Rating scales for the assessment of empathic communication in medical interview (REM): scale development, reliability, and validity. <i>Journal of</i> <i>Clinical Psychology in</i> <i>Medical Settings</i> , 14, 367- 375.
12, 13, 15	The doctor tried to put him/herself in the patient's shoes.; The doctor empathized with the patient's main reason for his/her visit.; The doctor was contained within his/her own point of view (negative); The doctor understood the patient's feelings.	The most important component is perspective takingOther components of empathy are compassionate care and standing in the patient's shoes, which are both specific to the patient-physician relationship.; REM rating scale item 4	Hojat et al. (2002). Physician empathy: definition, components, measurement, and relationship to gender and specialty. <i>The American</i> <i>Journal of Psychiatry</i> , <i>159</i> , 9, 1563-1569.; Nicolai, J., Demmel, R & Hagen, J. (2007). Rating scales for the assessment of empathic communication in medical interview (REM). scale development, reliability, and validity. <i>Journal of</i> <i>Clinical Psychology in</i> <i>Medical Settings</i> , 14, 367- 375.
16	The doctor asked the patient if he or she had any questions	Simple processes were suggested such as charting at the bedside instead of after leaving a patient, asking patients if they had any questions at the end of	Klitzman, R. (2006). Improving education on doctor-patient relationships and communication: lessons

		interactions, acknowledging having kept patients waiting, and increasing awareness of nonverbal interactions.	from doctors who became patients <i>Academic</i> <i>Meducine</i> , 81, 5, 447-453.
14	At any point during the visit did the doctor address the patient by his or her name? (yes/no) If yes, was it the patient's first or last name? (First name/Last name)	Referring to patients by their name (first, last, or both) may feel more personal and convey more empathy.	

EMOTIONAL TONE SCALE ITEMS	IDEA FROM LITERATURÉ	LITERATURE CITED
Compassionate / Not Compassionate	The most important component is perspective taking Other components of empathy are compassionate care and standing in the patient's shoes, which are both specific to the patient-physician relationship.	Hojat et al. (2002). Physician empathy: definition, components, measurement, and relationship to ghender and specialty. <i>The American</i> <i>Journal of Psychiatry</i> , 159, 9, 1563-1569.
Caring / Uncaring	Caring can be felt through tone of voice and can be a way of conveying empathy.	
Sensitive / Insensitive	Sensitivity can be heard through tone of voice and can be a way of conveying empathy.	
Sympathetic / Unsympathetic	Sympathy is similar to empathy and can be a way of attempting to convey empathic intentions.	
Understanding / Not Understanding		Nicolai, J., Demmel, R. & Hagen, J. (2007). Rating scales for the assessment of empathic communication in medical interview (REM): scale development, reliability, and validity. <i>Journal of</i> <i>Clinical Psychology in</i> <i>Medical Settings, 14</i> , 367- 375.
Connected/ Disconnected	Connectedness between a physician and his/her patient can be a way of showing they are involved and care.	
Emotional / Not Emotional	"Empathic doctor-patient relations consist of eliciting feelings, paraphrasing and reflecting, using silence, listening to what the patient is saying, but also what he is unable to say, encouragements and non-verbal behavior."	Ong et al. (1995)

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Thoughtful / Thoughtless	Thoughtfulness is a way of performing actions that are consistent with empathic feelings toward another.	
Considerate / Inconsiderate	Consideration when speaking to others is a way of putting him or herself in the patient's shoes.	
Tolerant / Intolerant	Tolerance is a way of demonstrating empathy for others feelings and perspectives.	
Empathetic / Apathetic		Hojat et al. (2002)
Warm / Cold		Haskard, K.B., Williams, S.L., DiMatteo, M.R. Heritage, J., & Rosenthal, R. (2008). The provider's voice: patient satisfaction and the content-filtered speech of nurses and physicians in primary medical care. <i>Journal of</i> <i>Nonverbal Behavior, 32</i> , 1-20.
Attentive / Inattentive	Attentiveness is a way to convey that he or she is focused, interested, and concerned for the patient.	
Pleasant / Unpleasant	Speaking to patients with a pleasant tone of voice conveys subtle feelings of caring and empathy toward the patient.	
Active / Passive	X	Haskard, K.B., Williams, S.L., DiMatteo, M.R. Heritage, J., & Rosenthal, R. (2008). The provider's voice: patient satisfaction and the content-filtered speech of nurses and physicians in primary medical care. <i>Journal of</i> <i>Nonverbal Behavior, 32</i> , 1-20.
Enthusiastic / Unenthusiastic	Enthusiasm during the medical visit is a way of conveying that the physician is emotionally involved with the patient.	
Polite / Rude	Speaking to patients with a polite tone of voice conveys subtle feelings of caring and empathy toward the patient.	
Gentle / Rough	the importance of tone, "gentleness," and other subjective aspects of such communication.	Klitzman, R. (2006). Improving education on doctor-patient relationships and communication: lessons from doctors who became patients <i>Academic</i> <i>Meducine</i> , 81, 5, 447-453.

Stressed / Relaxed	Stress conveyed in the physicians' tone of voice may convey harsh or apathetic tones to the patient.	
Anxious / Not Anxious		Haskard, K B., Williams, S L., DiMatteo, M.R. Heritage, J., & Rosenthal, R (2008) The provider's voice <sup>.</sup> patient satisfaction and the content-filtered speech of nurses and physicians in primary medical care. <i>Journal of</i> <i>Nonverbal Behavior, 32</i> , 1-20.

#### REFERENCES

- Ambady, N., Hallahan, M. & Rosenthal, R. (1995). On judging and being judged accurately in zero-acquaintance situations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69, 518-529.
- American Academy of Family Physicians. (2008). Primary Care. Retrieved on November 14, 2008 from http://www.aafp.org/online/en/home/policy/policies/p/primarycare.html.
- Barnett, M. A., Howard, J. A., King, L. M., & Dino, G. A. (1981). Helping behavior and the transfer of empathy. *Journal of Social Psychology*, *115*(1; 1), 125.
- Beck, R. S., Daughtridge, R. & Sloane, P. D. (2002). Physician-patient communication in the primary care office: A systematic review. *The Journal of the American Board* of Family Practice / American Board of Family Practice, 15(1), 25-38.
- Beckman, H. B., Markakis, K. M., Suchman, A. L., & Frankel, R. M. (1994). The doctorpatient relationship and malpractice. lessons from plaintiff depositions. *Archives* of Internal Medicine, 154(12), 1365-1370.
- Bellini L. M, Baime, M., & Shea, J. A. (2002). Variation of mood and empathy during internship. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 287, 3143–3146.
- Ben-Sira, Z. (1976). "The function of the professional's affective behavior in client satisfaction: a revised approach to social interaction theory." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 17, 3-11.
- Bensing, J. M. (1991). Doctor-patient communication and the quality of care. An observation study into affective and instrumental behavior in general practice. *Social Science and Medicine*, *32*, 1301-1310.
- Buller, D. B. (1987). "Communication apprehension and reactions to violations of proxemic expectations." *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 11, 13-25.
- Bylund, C. L., & Makoul, G. (2005). Examining empathy in medical encounters: An observational study using the empathic communication coding system. *Health Communication, 18*(2), 123-140

ç

- Cohen-Cole, S. A., & Bird, J. (1991). Building rapport and responding to patient's emotions. In Cole-Cohen, S.A. *The medical interview: the three-function approach* (pp. 21-27). St. Louis, MO: Mosby Year Book.
- Comstock, L. M., Hooper, E. M., Goodwin, J. M., & Goodwin, J. S. (1982). Physician behaviors that correlate with patient satisfaction. *Journal of Medical Education*, 57(2), 105-112.
- Conte, S. J., Imershein, A. W., & Magill, M. K. (1992). Rural community and physician perspectives on resource factors affecting physician retention. *The Journal of Rural Health Official Journal of the American Rural Health Association and the National Rural Health Care Association, 8*(3), 185-196.
- Davitz, J. R. (1964). *The communication of emotional meaning*. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Devoe, J., Fryer, G., Hargraves, J., Phillips, R. L., & Green, L.A. (2002). Does career dissatisfaction affect the ability of family physicians to deliver high-quality patient care? *The Journal of Family Practice*, 51, 223-228.
- Di Blasi, Z., Harkness, E., Ernst, E., Georgiou, A., & Kleijnen, J. (2001). Influence of context effects on health outcomes: A systematic review. *Lancet*, 357(9258), 757.
- DiMatteo, M. R., Prince, L. M., & Taranta, A. (1979). Patients' perceptions of physicians' behavior: Determinants of patient commitment to the therapeutic relationship. *Journal of Community Health*, 4(4), 280-290.
- DiMatteo, M. R., Sherbourne, C. D., Hays, R. D., Ordway, L., Kravitz, R. L., McGlynn, E. A., Kaplan, S., & Rogers, W. H. (1993). Physicians' characteristics influence patients' adherence to medical treatment: results form the medical outcomes study. *Health Psychology*, 12, 93-102.
- Donelan, K., Blendon, R. J., Lundberg, G. D., Calkins, D. R., Newhouse, J. P., Leape, L. L., et al. (1997). The new medical marketplace: Physicians' views. *Health Affairs* (*Project Hope*), 16(5), 139-148.
- Engel, G. L. (1988). "How much longer must medicine's science be bound by a seventeenth century world view?" In K.L. White (ed.), The task of medicine: Dialogue at Wickenburg. Menlo Park, CA: The Henry Kaiser Family Foundation, p.115.
- Feighny, K. M., Arnold, L., Monaco, M., Munro, J. S., & Earl, B. (1998). In pursuit of empathy and its relation to physician communication skills: multidimensional empathy training for medical students. *Annals of Behavioral Science and Medical Education*, 52, 13-21.

- Frankel, R. M. (2000). The (socio)linguistic turn in physician-patient communication research. Georgetown University Round Table on Languages and Linguistics, 81-103.
- Frankel, R. M., & Stein, T. (1999). Getting the most out of the clinical encounter: the four habits model. *The Permanente Journal*, *3*(3), 79-88.
- Freemon, B., Negrete, V. F., Davis, M., & Korsch, B. M. (1971). "Gaps in doctor-patient communication: doctor-patient interaction analysis." *Pediatric Research*, 5, 298-311.
- Freidman, H. S. (1979). Non-verbal communication between patients and medical practitioners. *Journal of Social Issues, 35*, 82-93
- Friedman, H. S., DiMatteo, R. M., & Taranta, A. (1980). "A study of the relationship between individual differences in nonverbal expressiveness and factors of personality and social interaction." *Journal of Research in Personality*, 14, 351-64.
- Hadley, J., & Mitchell, J. M. (2002). The growth of managed care and changes in physicians' incomes, autonomy, and satisfaction, 1991-1997. *International Journal of Health Care Finance and Economics*, 2(1), 37-50.
- Hall, J. A., Roter, D. L., & Rand, S. C. (1981). Communication of affect between patient and physician. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 22, 18-30.
- Haskard, K. B., DiMatteo, M. R., & Heritage, J. (2009). Affective and instrumental communication in primary care interactions: predicting the satisfaction of nursing staff and patients. *Health Communication*, *24*, 21-32.
- Haskard, K. B., Williams, S. L., DiMatteo, M. R., Heritage, J., & Rosenthal, R. (2008). The provider's voice: patient satisfaction and the content-filtered speech of nurses and physicians in primary medical care. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 32, 1-20.
- Haskard, K. B., Williams, S. L., DiMatteo, M. R., Rosenthal, R., White, M. K., & Goldstein, M.G. (2008). Physician and patient communication training in primary care: Effects on participation and satisfaction. *Health Psychology*, 27(5), 513-522.
- Hojat, M., Gonnella, J. S., Nasca, T. J., Mangione, S., Veloksi, J. J., & Magee, M. (2002). The jefferson scale of physician empathy: Further psychometric data and differences by gender and specialty at item level. *Academic Medicine*, 77, S58s60.
- Hojat, M., Gonnella, J. S., Nasca, T. J., Mangione, S., Vergare, M., & Magee, M. (2002). Physician empathy: definition, components, measurement, and relationship to gender and specialty. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 159(9), 1563-1569.

- Hojat, M., Mangione, S., Nasca, T. J., Gonnella, J. S., & Magee, M. (2005). Empathy scores in medical school and ratings of empathic behavior in residency training 3 years later. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 145(6), 663-672.
- Holm, O. (1997). Ratings of empathic communication: Does experience make a difference? *Journal of Psychology*, 131(6), 680.
- Hwang, S. L., Chang, Y., Ko, W. J., & Lee, M. B. (1998). Stress-reducing effect of physician's tape-recorded support on cardiac surgical patients in the intensive care unit. *Journal of the Formosan Medical Association = Taiwan Yi Zhi*, 97(3), 191-196.
- Jensen, P. S. (1981). "The doctor-patient relationship: headed for impasse or improvement?" Annals of Internal Medicine, 95, 769-71.
- Johnson, N. P., Michels, P. J., & Thomas, J. C. (1990). Screening tests identify the prevalence of alcohol use among freshman medical students and among students' family of origin. *Journal of the South Carolina Medical Association (1975)*, 86(1), 13-14.
- Kerr, E. A., Mittman, B. S., Hays, R. D., Zemencuk, J. K., Pitts, J., & Brook, R. H. (2000). Associations between primary care physician satisfaction and selfreported aspects of utilization and management. *Health Services Research*, 35, 333-349.
- King, J. C., LaGrone, R. P., & Miller, S. F. (1984). "The patient and physician in partnership: a thought experiment." *Southern Medical Journal*, 77, 360-366.
- Klitzman, R. (2006). Improving education on doctor-patient relationships and communication: Lessons from doctors who become patients. *Academic Medicine*, 81(5), 447-453.
- Korsch, B. M., Gozzi, E. K., & Francis, V. F. (1968). "Gaps in doctor-patient communication." *Pediatrics, 42*, 855-870.
- Korsch, B. M., & Negrete, V. F. (1972). "Doctor-patient communication." Scientific American, 227, 66-74.
- Korsch, B. M., & Negrete, V. F. (1981). "Doctor-patient communication." in *Physician-Patient Communication*. *Readings and Recommendations*, edited by G. Henderson, pp. 29-40, Springfield, IL: Thomas.
- Lee, C. (1987). Professionals in medical settings: the research evidence in the 1980's. Journal of Organizational Behavior Management, 8, 195-213.

- Lee, S. J., Back, A. L., Block, S. D., & Stewart, S. K. (2002). Enhancing physicianpatient communication. *Hematology / the Education Program of the American Society of Hematology.American Society of Hematology.Education Program*, 464-483.
- Lester, G. W., & Smith, S. G. (1993). Listening and talking to patients. A remedy for malpractice suits? *The Western Journal of Medicine*, 158(3), 268-272.
- Levinson, W., Roter, D. L., Mullooly, J. P., Dull, V. T., & Frankel, R. M. (1997). Physician-patient communication: the relationship with malpractice claims among primary care physicians and surgeons. *The Journal of the American Medical* Association, 277(7), 553-559.
- Linzer, M., Gerrity, M., Douglas, J. A., McMurray, J. E., Williams, E. S., & Konrad, T. R. (2002). Physician stress: Results from the physician worklife study. *Stress and Health* · *Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress, 18*(1), 37-42.
- Maynard, D. W., & Heritage, J. (2005). Conversation analysis, doctor-patient interaction and medical communication. *Medical Education*, 39(4), 428-435.
- McCabe, P. M., & Schneiderman, N. (1985). Psychophysiologic reactions to stress. In N. Schneiderman, J.T. Tapp, N. Schneiderman & J.T. Tapp (Eds.), *Behavioral medicine: The biopsychosocial approach*. (pp. 99-131). Hillsdale, NJ England: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- McHorney C. A., Ware, J. E., Raczek, A. E. (1993). The MOS 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36®): II. psychometric and clinical tests of validity in measuring physical and mental health constructs. *Med Care*, *31*(3), 247-63.
- Murray, A., Montgomery, J. E., Chang, H., Rogers, W. H., Inui, T., Safran, D. G. (2001). Doctor discontent: a comparison of physician satisfaction in different delivery system settings, 1986 and 1997. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, *16*, 451-459.
- National Center for Health Statistics. (2007). NCHS Definitions: Health management organizations (HMO). Retrieved March 10, 2008 from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/datawh/nchsdefs/hmo.htm
- Neumann, M., Wirtz, M., Bollschweiler, E., Mercer, S. W., Warm, M., Wolf, J., & Pfaff, H. (2007). Determinants and patient-reported long-term outcomes of physician empathy in oncology: A structural equation modeling approach. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 69, 63-75.

- Nicolai, J., Demmel, R., & Hagen, J. (2007). Rating scales for the assessment of empathic communication in medical interviews (REM): Scale development, reliability, and validity. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, 14(4), 367-375.
- Notman, M. T., Salt, P., & Nadelson, C. C. (1984). Stress and adaptation in medical students: Who is most vulnerable? *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 25(3), 355-366.
- Ong, L. M. L., De Haes, J. C. J. M., Hoos, A. M., & Lammes, F. B. (1995). Doctorpatient communication: a review of the literature. *Social Science and Medicine*, 40, 903-918.
- Osgood, C. E., Suci, G. J., & Tannenbaum, P. H. (1957). *The measurement of meaning*. Urbana: The University of Illinois Press.
- Pathman, D. E., Williams, E. S., & Konrad, T. R. (1996). Rural physician satisfaction: its sources and relationship to retention. *Journal of Rural Health*, *12*, 366-377.
- Peltzer, K., Mashego, T., & Mabeba, M. (2003). Occupational stress and burnout among south african medical practitioners. *Stress and Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress, 19*(5), 275-280.
- Petrozzi, M. C., Rosman, H. S., Nerenz, D. R., & Young, M. J. (1992). Clinical activities and satisfaction of general internists, cardiologists, and ophthalmologists. *Journal* of General Internal Medicine, 7, 363-367.
- Pitts, F. N., Winokur, G., & Stewart, M. A. (1961). Psychiatric syndromes, anxiety symptoms and responses to stress in medical students. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 118, 333-340.
- Ramirez, A. J., Graham, J., Richards, M. A., Cull, A., & Gregory, W. M. (1996). Mental health of hospital consultants: the effects of stress and satisfaction at work. *Lancet*, 347, 724-728.
- Research and Development (RAND) Health. (1992). Medical outcomes study: 36-item short form survey (SF-36). Retrieved on September 30, 2008 from www.rand.org/health/surveys\_tools/mos/mos\_core\_36item\_scoring.html.
- Richings, J. C., Khara, G. S., & McDowell, M. (1986). Suicide in young doctors. *The British Journal of Psychiatry: The Journal of Mental Science, 149*, 475-478.
- Rogers, C. R. (1975). Empathetic: an unappreciated way of being. *Counseling Psychology*, *5*, 2-10.

- Roter, D. L., Frankel, R. M., Hall, J. A., & Sluyter, D. (2006). The expression of emotion through nonverbal behavior in medical visits mechanism and outcomes. *Journal* of General Internal Medicine, 21, S28-S34.
- Roter, D. L., Hall, J. A., & Katz, N. R. (1987). Relations between physicians' behaviors and analogue patients' satisfaction, recall, and impressions. *Medical Care*, 25, 437-541.
- Schulz, R., Scheckler, W. E., Moberg, D. P., & Johnson, P. R. (1997). Changing nature of physician satisfaction with health maintenance organization and fee-for-service practices. *Journal of Family Practice*, 45, 321-330.
- Selye, H. (1976). The Stress of Life (rev. ed.), McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Shanafelt, T. D., Bradley, K. A., Wipf, J. E., & Back, A. L. (2002). Burnout and selfreported patient care in an internal medicine residency program. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 136, 358–367.
- Shapiro, S. L., Schwartz, G. E., & Bonner, G. (1998). Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on medical and premedical students. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 21(6), 581.
- Silvester, J., Patterson, F., Koczwara, A., & Ferguson, E. (2007). 'Trust me...': Psychological and behavioral predictors of perceived physician empathy. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 92(2), 519-527. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.92.2.519.
- Skolnik, N. S., Smith, D. R. & Diamond, J. (1993). Professional satisfaction and dissatisfaction of family physicians. *Journal of Family Practice*, *37*, 257-263.
- Stewart, M. (1995). Effective physician-patient communication and health outcomes: a review. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 152, 1423-1433.
- Stewart, M., Brown, J. B., Donner, A., McWhinney, I. R., Oates, J., Weston, W. W., & Jordan, J. (2000). The impact of patient-centered care on outcomes. *Journal of Family Practice*, 49, 796-804.
- Street, R., & Wiemann, J.M. (1987). "Patients' satisfaction with physicians' interpersonal involvement, expressiveness, and dominance." in *Communication Yearbook* Vol. 10, edited by Margaret McLaughlin, pp. 591-612, Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Sullivan, L. M., Stein, M. D., Savetsky, J. B., & Samet, J. H. (2000). The doctor-patient relationship and HIV infected patients' satisfaction with primary care physicians. *Journal of General Medicine*, 15, 462-469.

- Thomas, M. R., Dyrbye, L. N., Huntington, J. L., Lawson, K. L., Novotny, P. J., Sloan, J. A., & Shanafelt, T. D. (2007). How Do Distress and Well-being Relate to Medical Student Empathy? A Multicenter Study. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 22, 177-183.
- Van Dulmen, A. M., & Bensing, J. M. (2002). Health promoting effects of the physicianpatient encounter. Psychology, Health & Medicine, 7(3), 289-300.
- Vickery, E. L. (1983). "Our heart, our heritage." *The Journal of the American Medical* Association, 250, 913-915.
- Ware, J. E. SF-36 Literature construction of the SF-36 version 2.0: psychometric considerations, translations, discussions. SF-36 Health Survey Update. Retrieved from http://www.sf-36.org/tools/SF36.shtml on September 30, 2008.
- Ware J. E., Kosinski M., & Keller S. K. (1994). SF-36<sup>®</sup> Physical and Mental Health Summary Scales: A User's Manual. Boston, MA: The Health Institute.
- Ware J. E., Kosinski M., & Dewey J. E. (2000). How to Score Version Two of the SF-36 Health Survey. Lincoln, RI: QualityMetric, Incorporated.
- Wasserman, R. C., Inui, T. S., Barriatua, R. D., Carter, W. B., & Lippincott, P. (1984). Pediatric clinicians' support for parents makes a difference: An outcome-based analysis of clinician-parent interaction. *Pediatrics*, 74(6), 1047.
- Weiss, S. J. (1990). Effects of differential touch on nervous system arousal of patients recovering from cardiac disease. *Heart and Lung*, *19*, 474-480.
- Zachariae, R., Pedersen, C. G., Jensen, A. B., Ehrnrooth, E., Rossen, P. B., & von der Maase, H. (2003). Association of perceived physician communication style with patient satisfaction, distress, cancer-related self-efficacy, and perceived control over the disease. *British Journal of Cancer*, 88(5), 658-665.

~

# VITA

Emily Ann Edwards was born in Austin, Texas, on July 20, 1982, the daughter of Rosemary Goad Edwards and Richard Michael Edwards. After completing her work at L.C. Anderson High School, Austin, Texas, in 2000, she entered the University of Texas at Arlington where she received the degree of Bachelor of Art in Psychology in August 2005. During the following years she was employed as a research technician for Reliance Clinical Testing Services in Irving, Texas. In August 2007, she entered the Graduate College of Texas State University-San Marcos.

1

Permanent Address: 6528 Heron Dr.

Austin, Texas 78759

This thesis was typed by Emily A. Edwards.